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I. STATEMENT
1. This docket concerns Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No.94763 94763 issued by Staff of the Public Utilities Commission (Staff) onDecember 6, 2010 December 6, 2010 against RespondentLarry Holle, doing business as, Buss Express Larry Holle, doing business as Bus Express (Respondent or Bus Express).  The CPAN assessed a total penalty of $26,345.00 for 43 violations of specified provisions of Rules 6106 and 6015 of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6 and specified sections of 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 382, 391 395, and 396, as more specifically identified in CPAN No. 94763, including an additional 10 percent surcharge.  See Hearing Exhibit 11.

2. On December 7, 2010, Respondent acknowledged receipt of CPAN No. 94763.  See Exhibit 11.  That action commenced this proceeding.  The violation dates were alleged as October 14, 2010, October 19, 2010, October 29, 2010, October 31, 2010, November 3, 2010, and November 4, 2010.

3. On December 28, 2010, by Minute Entry, the Commission referred this matter to an administrative law judge (ALJ).   

4. By Decision No. R10-1388-I, dated December 31, 2010, a hearing was scheduled in this matter to commence on February 2, 2011. 

5. At the assigned time and place, the undersigned ALJ called the matter for hearing.  Staff appeared through Counsel.  Respondent appeared pro se.  

6. By Decision No. R11-0119-I, dated February 2, 2011, the hearing was continued to February 28, 2011.

7. At the scheduled time and place, the undersigned ALJ again called the matter for hearing.  Staff and Respondent appeared and participated through counsel.  During the course of the hearing, Exhibits 1 through 25 were identified and offered into evidence.  Exhibits 1 through 4 were not admitted.  Exhibits 5 through 25 were admitted.  Mr. Cliff Hinson, Criminal Investigator for the Commission, testified in support of the allegations contained in CPAN No. 94763.  

8. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

II. FINDINGS 
9. Mr. Holle attended high school in Kansas, junior college at Concordia, and college at Kansas State University. He has approximately seven or eight years of experience as a bus mechanic. For approximately ten years, he has been doing business as Bus Express or as a limited liability company or corporation.  Since October 2010, he has operated as a sole proprietorship doing business as Bus Express.
10. Respondent holds contract Carrier Permit No. B-9934, Children's Activity Bus Certificate 00026, and Charter, Scenic Authority 00168.    
11. Mr. Hinson is a criminal investigator for the Commission. As part of his duties, he investigates complaints regarding carriers’ compliance with applicable rules and Colorado law.  He testified regarding the issuance of the CPAN.

12. An investigation of Bus Express commenced in 2010 based upon complaints regarding safety and driver conduct. Mr. Hinson found that Respondent routinely takes vehicles in and out of service.  So, he reviewed equipment owned by Buss Express utilizing the Colorado Department of Revenue’s "GGCC" system, which is used in the ordinary course of business to verify driver’s license information and vehicle registration information.

13. In March 2010, Mr. Hinson personally contacted Mr. Holle and advised him regarding receipt of the pending complaints. Beginning April 2010, Mr. Hinson placed several calls to Mr. Holle over several months, attempting to discuss the matter.  In October 2010, Mr. Holle returned Mr. Hinson’s call.

14. Mr. Holle initially told Mr. Hinson that he operated three buses subject to the Commission's jurisdiction.  During the relevant time period Mr. Holle held three annual vehicle identification stamps.  Mr. Hinson initially challenged that he had been told of more buses involved in the operation and Mr. Holle then stated that ten buses were utilized. Finally, Mr. Hinson challenged based on information obtained from the GCCC, that 15 to 18 buses were utilized, Mr. Holle then admitted that it was “probably a good number."

15. Based upon information obtained through the course of this investigation, Mr. Hinson initiated a safety and compliance review of Bus Express.  An appointment was scheduled with Mr. Holle for November 3 and 4, 2010 at the company's facilities located at 2150 S. Valencia.  Mr. Hinson also informed Mr. Holle as to the documents requested for inspection.  See Exhibit 25.

16. Mr. Hinson met with Mr. Holle to discuss the safety and compliance review.  Five drivers and five buses were identified by Mr. Holle to be utilized in event transportation. 

17. Bus Express operations consist of multiple functions.  Children are transported via a bus route to school for classes and returned home at the end of the school day. Also, Bus Express provides transportation for events including extracurricular school activities as well as adult transportation. He distinguishes event transportation from transportation of children to and from schools for classes. 

18. Despite the request, no information or contract was provided by Respondent as to any transportation services provided.

19. Although inspected by Mr. Hinson, vehicle no. 409, Hearing Exhibit 5, located in back of the shop was said to be out of service. Four additional vehicles were explained to be used in providing regulated service.  Of the five vehicles inspected, three were declared out of service by Mr. Hinson as a result of the inspection.  See Exhibits 5 through 9. 

20. Exhibits 5 through 9 document Mr. Hinson's inspection of Bus Express company vehicle identification nos. 25, 120, 409, 614, and 661.  There is no indication which, if any, of these vehicles had a vehicle identification stamp issued by the Commission.
21. Ms. Cassondra Caldwell drove company vehicle no. 120, identified in Hearing Exhibit 9, to Buss Express’s facility while Mr. Hinson was at the property.  He approached and she explained that she was completing a run for Douglas County. He interviewed her and conducted a "Level 1" inspection in accordance with Commission practice. Ms. Caldwell did not possess a certification of medical eligibility to drive or a Colorado driver’s license. After discussing the matter with Mr. Holle, Mr. Hinson was told that copies would be provided.

22. Mr. Hinson reviewed GGCC information and no record was found of Ms. Caldwell having a commercial driver’s license. Ms. Caldwell stated that she had a commercial driver’s license but later admitted she did not. 

23. Mr. Hinson requested the company's maintenance records and driver files, including hours of service records, for inspection. Based upon the evidence as a whole, it is clear that no such records were available. Mr. Holle stated that some records were off-site and would be provided. However, he failed to provide additional information.  Mr. Hinson characterized the few documents he saw as being in "terrible shape."  There was no medical information, driver’s licenses, trip logs, hours of service, alcohol testing, educational information, company policies and procedures, etc.  Mr. Hinson contacted the Consortium, of which Respondent is a member, regarding compliance information.  

24. No vehicle files were available for any equipment. No maintenance plan was available for any equipment.  Civil penalties were not proposed as to one vehicle for which some records and receipts were produced.

25. Hearing Exhibit 10 is Mr. Hinson's report issued at the conclusion of the safety and compliance review. In addition to the report, forms were provided with information to correct violations found. Mr. Hinson met with Mr. Holle to review and explain the violations in the ordinary course of business at the closing of the inspection.

26. Respondent was afforded subsequent opportunities to provide supplemental information.  After final consideration of the report, as well as any other information available, CPAN No. 94763 was issued to Respondent. See Exhibit 11. Mr. Hinson met with Mr. Holle at the Commission on December 7, 2010, to review and discuss each violation. 

27. Exhibits 14 through 17 are prior Commission decisions assessing civil penalties against Mr. Holle, doing business as Bus Express. Hearing Exhibit 12 is a permanent injunction prohibiting Mr. Holle from operating a motor vehicle carrier exempt from regulation as a public utility under article 16 of title 40, C.R.S. unless he complied with Commission safety rules, and unless he registered with the Commission pursuant to § 40-16-103, C.R.S., and maintained prescribed liability and property damage insurance. No evidence was provided that the permanent injunction was lifted.

28. Intrastate contract carriers by motor vehicle as defined in § 40-11-101(3), C.R.S., and carriers exempt from regulation as public utilities as defined in § 40-16-101(4), C.R.S., are subject to the Safety Rules.  See, Rule 6100, 4 CCR 723-6.  A person offering service by charter or scenic bus, or children’s activity bus, is included as an exempt carrier.

29. Because Bus Express is a motor vehicle contract carrier and a carrier exempt from regulation as a public utility, it is subject to the Safety Rules and its intentional violation of the same subjects it to civil penalties.  See generally, 4 CCR 723-6 and §§ 40-7-112 to 40-7-116, 40‑7-115, and 40-7-112, C.R.S.

30. The Safety Rules incorporate specified portions of the 2009 edition of 49 CFR Parts 382, 391 395, and 396.  See, Rules 6000 - 6605, 4 CCR 723-6.  

31. Commission enforcement personnel have authority to issue CPANs under § 40‑7‑116, C.R.S.  That statute provides that the Commission has the burden of demonstrating a violation by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Commission only has penalty assessment authority to the extent provided by statute and must follow the provisions of those statutes when it imposes such penalties against towing carriers.  
32. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Administrative Procedure Act imposes the burden of proof in administrative adjudicatory proceedings upon "the proponent of an order."  § 24-4-205(7), C.R.S.  As provided in Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-1-1500, “[t]he proponent of the order is that party commencing a proceeding.”  Commission Staff, as Complainant is the proponent since it commenced the proceeding and seeks an order for relief pursuant to the CPAN.  Commission Staff bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.  See, § 13-25-127(1), C.R.S.; 4 CCR 723-1-1500.  The preponderance standard requires the finder of fact to determine whether the existence of a contested fact is more probable than its non-existence.  Swain v. Colorado Dept. of Revenue, 717 P.2d 507 (Colo. App. 1985).  While the quantum of evidence that constitutes a preponderance cannot be reduced to a simple formula, a party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole and however slightly, tips in favor of that party.
33. “In civil cases, the burden of proof is on the plaintiff to prove the elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.  This burden of proof does not shift during the proceeding, although it may be aided by a presumption or a shift of the burden of going forward with the evidence once the plaintiff has established a prima facie case.”
  Once Staff establishes a prima facie case of violation, the burden of going forward shifts to Bus Express to show that the proven facts do not result in a violation.  

Section 40-7-116, C.R.S., mandates a number of procedures for the imposition of civil penalties by the Commission.  After specifying that the listed officials are the ones authorized to issue civil penalty assessments for violations of law, § 116 states that, 

34. “When a person is cited for such violation, the person operating the motor vehicle involved shall be given notice of such violation in the form of a civil penalty assessment notice.”  Section 116 further directs that the civil penalty assessment notice … shall be tendered by the enforcement official;” and that it “shall contain” the “name and address of the person cited for the violation; a citation to the specific statute or rule alleged to have been violated; a brief description of the alleged violation; the date and approximate location of the alleged violation; the maximum penalty amounts prescribed for the violation; the date of the notice; a place for such person to execute a signed acknowledgment of receipt of the civil penalty assessment notice; a place for such person to execute a signed acknowledgment of liability for the violation; and such other information as may be required by law to constitute notice of a complaint to appear for hearing if the prescribed penalty is not paid within ten days.” § 40-7-116, C.R.S.

35. The Commission has subject matter jurisdiction over this case and personal jurisdiction over Respondent.  

36. The Commission must also enforce safety requirements and Bus Express is obligated to cooperate, at some level, in that function.  

It is found that Staff has met its burden of proof with respect to all but one of the alleged violations in CPAN No. 94763. 
1. Rules 4 CCR 723-6-6106 and 49 CFR § 382.301(a)—Claim Nos. 1–3

37. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6106(c) (Rules effective October 15, 2010) provides that persons who violate the provisions of 49 C.F.R. § 382.301(a) may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $1,100.00 for each violation. Rule 49 CFR § 382.301(a), in turn, provides that prior to performing safety sensitive functions a driver must take a drug test and have a verified negative result. Holle had no documentation of a negative test result for drivers Caldwell, Canady, and Bristol. 

2. Rule 49 CFR § 382.601(a)(1)—Claim No. 4 

38. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6105(h) (Rules effective July 30, 2009) provides that a person who violates any other rule may be assessed a civil penalty up to $250.00 for each violation.  Rule 49 CFR § 382.601(a)(1) requires motor vehicle carriers to provide certain educational materials to their employees. Each motor vehicle carrier is required to have each driver sign a certificate of receipt and the motor vehicle carrier is required to keep the original. 49 CFR § 382.601(d). Holle had no documentation for Theodore Medina.

3. Rule 49 CFR § 382.603—Claim No. 5

39. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6106(i) provides that a person who violates any other rule may be assessed a civil penalty up to $250.00 for each violation. Rule 49 CFR § 382.603 requires supervisors to receive training on alcohol abuse and substance abuse. Holle had no documentation showing that he received such training. 

4. Rules 49 CFR § 391.23(a)(1) and (b)—Claim Nos. 6–9 

40. Rules 4 CCR 723-6-6105(h) and 6106(i) provides that a person who violates any other rule may be assessed a civil penalty up to $250.00 for each violation. Rule 49 CFR § 391.23(a)(1) requires motor vehicle carriers to obtain the motor vehicle record for each driver and 49 C.F.R. § 391.23(b) requires motor vehicle carriers to maintain copies of those records. Holle had no documentation showing that he did this for Bristol, Caldwell, Canady, or Medina.

5. Rule 49 CFR §§ 391.23(c) and (a)(2)—Claim Nos. 10–13 

41. Rules 4 CCR 723-6-6105(h) and 6106(i) provides that a person who violates any other rule may be assessed a civil penalty up to $250.00 for each violation. Rule 49 CFR § 391.23(a)(2) requires motor vehicle carriers to make an investigation into drivers’ safety performance history. Rule 49 CFR § 391.23(c) provides further details on what the investigation must consist of and what materials the motor vehicle carrier is required to maintain. Holle had no documentation showing he did this for Caldwell, Canady, Medina, and Risley. 

6. Rule 49 CFR § 391.23(i)(1)—Claim Nos. 14–17 

42. Rules 4 CCR 723-6-6105(h) and 6106(i) provides that a person who violates any other rule may be assessed a civil penalty up to $250.00 for each violation. Rule 49 CFR § 391.23(i)(1) requires motor vehicle carriers to provide employees with information about certain rights they have. Holle had no documents showing that he did this for Bristol, Caldwell, Canady, or Medina.

7. Rule 49 CFR §§ 391.25(a) and (c)(1)—Claim No. 18

43. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6105(h) provides that a person who violates any other rule may be assessed a civil penalty up to $250.00 for each violation. Rule 49 CFR § 391.25(a) requires motor vehicle carriers to inquire about drivers’ motor vehicle records every 12 months. Rule 49 CFR § 391.25(c)(1) requires that the documents obtained from such inquiry be maintained in the drivers’ qualification file. Holle had no documents showing he did this for Medina. 

8. Rule 49 CFR §§ 391.25(b) and (c)(2)—Claim No. 19

44. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6105(h) provides that a person who violates any other rule may be assessed a civil penalty up to $250.00 for each violation. Rule 49 CFR 391.25(b) requires motor vehicle carriers to review drivers’ motor vehicle records every 12 months and determine if the drivers are qualified to drive. Rule 49 CFR § 391(c)(2) requires a record of such review to be maintained in the drivers’ qualification file. Holle had no documentation showing that he did this for Medina.

9. Rule 49 CFR § 391.45(a)—Claim Nos. 20–23 

45. Rules 4 CCR 723-6-6105(c) and 6106(c) provides that a person who violates any of the safety rules listed therein may be assessed a civil penalty up to $1100.00 for each violation. Rule 49 CFR § 391.45(a) requires that a driver be medically examined and certified as physically qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle before being allowed to drive. Holle had no documentation showing that Bristol, Caldwell, Canady, and Medina were medically qualified to drive.

10. Rules 4 CCR 726-6-6015(g)(1)—Claim Nos. 24–26

46. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6105(g)(I) prohibits carriers from allowing drivers to drive for the carrier if the drivers have not complied with the fingerprint background checks. Pursuant to 4 CCR 723-6-6106(h), a carrier may be assessed a civil penalty up to $275.00 for each violation. Holle allowed Bristol, Caldwell, and Canady to drive without first having passed the fingerprint background check.

47. In its statement of position, Staff acknowledges Staff citing Rule 6015 versus 6105 on Exhibit 11. During rulemaking, the fingerprint rules moved from the 6000 series to the safety rules in the 6100 series. The rule is substantively the same throughout with no changes, nor is the fine amount different in any aspect. 

11. Rule 49 CFR § 395.8(a)—Claim Nos. 27–28

48. Rules 4 CCR 723-6-6105(f) and 6106(f) provides for up to a $500.00 fine for carriers who violate 49 CFR § 395.8(a). Carriers must require every driver the carrier uses to record his or her duty status for each 24-hour period using the methods prescribed by that regulation. For the five drivers at issue, Hinson checked the records provided. Holle had no such records for 131 24-hour periods. Staff issued its CPAN for only two violations.  Holle had no documentation of compliance with the requirements of 49 CFR § 396.8(a).

12. Rule 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(1)—Claim Nos. 29–30

49. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6106(f) provides for up to a $500.00 fine for carriers who violate 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(1). That provision requires records that include the identification of the vehicle including the company number, make, model, serial number, year, and tire size. Rule 49 CFR § 396.3(c) requires that the records be maintained for 1.5 years. Holle did not have the required records for Units 120, 409, 25, and 610. 

50. At the hearing Holle produced only Exhibit 22, purportedly maintenance records for Unit 614.  However, because the proven violations exceed the violations alleged in the CPAN, such showing does not affect the violations shown by Staff for which civil penalties are assessed.

13. Rule 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2)—Claim Nos. 31–32

51. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6106(f) provides for up to a $500.00 fine for carriers who violate 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2). That provision requires carriers to have a maintenance plan for each vehicle used. Rule 49 CFR § 396.3(c) requires that the records be maintained for 1.5 years. Holle had no records for Units 120, 409, 25, and 610.  Hearing Exhibit 22 purportedly includes the maintenance plan for Unit 614.  However, because the proven violations exceed the violations alleged in the CPAN, such showing does not affect the violations shown by Staff for which civil penalties are assessed.

14. Rule 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(3)—Claim Nos. 33–34

52. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6106(f) provides for up to a $500.00 fine for carriers who violate 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(3). That provision requires carriers to have the maintenance records for each vehicle used. Rule 49 CFR § 396.3(c) requires that the records be maintained for 1.5 years. Holle did not have the records for Units 120, 409, 25, and 610.  Hearing Exhibit 22 purportedly includes the maintenance records for Unit 614.  However, because the proven violations exceed the violations alleged in the CPAN, such showing does not affect the violations shown by Staff for which civil penalties are assessed.

15. Rule 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(4) and 49 CFR § 396.3(a)(2)—
Claim Nos. 35–36

53. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6106(f) provides for up to a $500.00 fine for carriers who violate 49 CFR §§ 396.3(a)(2) and (b)(4). That provision requires carriers to have records for tests conducted on pushout windows, emergency doors, and emergency door marking lights on buses. Rule 49 CFR § 396.3(c) requires that the records be maintained for 1.5 years. Holle had no records for Units 120, 409, 25, and 610.  Holle was only cited for two of the violations shown. 

16. Rule 49 CFR § 396.11(a)—Claim Nos. 37–38

54. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6106(f) provides for up to a $500.00 fine for carriers who violate 49 CFR § 396.11. That provision requires drivers to prepare vehicle inspection reports. Holle did not have vehicle inspection reports for Units 120 and 661. Hinson checked for 63 required reports on 5 vehicles and Holle had no reports at all.  At hearing some record for unit 614 was shown. In spite of these findings, Holle was cited for two of the violations shown. 

17. Rule 49 CFR § 396.17(a)—Claim Nos. 39–43

55. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6106(c) provides for a civil penalty of $1,100 for persons who violate 49 CFR § 396.17(a). That provision requires every commercial vehicle owned by a carrier to be inspected. Respondent is required to maintain documentation showing the inspection took place. Rule 49 CFR § 396.17(c). Holle testified that he had his vehicles inspected, but he produced no documents showing that they were.

56. Upon Staff’s showing of a prima facie case as to each violation summarized above, the burden of going forward shifts to Respondent.  Respondent must bring forth sufficient information to overcome the prima facie showing or Staff will have prevailed.  Such a shifting of the burden of going forward is particularly appropriate considering the underlying regulatory compact and the fact that Holle is required to maintain documentation, has a financial interest in complying with obligations to the Commission, and is in the best position to provide documentation regarding transportation service provided. 

57. The thrust of Respondent’s defense attempts to show that the company operations are not subject to Commission regulation and that Staff failed to show that company documentation did not exist.  However, it is Respondent’s obligation to maintain specific records documenting compliance with obligations to the Commission. Illustratively, Staff cannot show specific trips made utilizing specific pieces of equipment over a period of time because Respondent failed to maintain records indicating such information. Additionally, Staff is unable to show that individual drivers exceeded permitted hours of service because there was a total lack of any indication or evidence of a driver log. Based thereupon, Respondent’s failure to put forth credible, corroborated, evidence contradicting Staff’s prima facie showing, a civil penalty will be imposed for each violation for each driver for the period of the inspection.

58. Holle failed to produce any corroborating evidence that busses were operated outside of the Commission’s jurisdiction and not in accordance with admissions made.

59. Holle testified that he is not currently operating due to lack of revenue and that it has not operated since a few weeks following the safety compliance review in December. He contends the company is insolvent and unable to pay bills in the ordinary course of business. He has borrowed funds from his brother to meet personal and business obligations.

60. Mr. Holle showed no action being taken to suspend operations of its authority with the Commission.  Mr. Holle explains that he maintained $5 million insurance coverage in compliance with Commission requirements; but presents no evidence as to why insurance would be maintained if the company was not operating.  In any event, it is undisputed that the company operated at the time of inspection.

61. Mr. Holle blames the lack of available documentation upon the fact that he was in the process of moving his office and shop at the time of the inspection by Mr. Hinson. Despite Mr. Hinson's invitation to meet further, Mr. Holle neither met with Staff nor presented sufficient evidence at hearing to overcome Staff’s showing.  In any event, moving the company provides no defense to the violations proven.

62. Mr. Holle maintains that the company had policies in effect regarding use of alcohol and drug screenings. He was a member of the Consortium based in Durango for compliance dirt drug screening and has been a member of a random pool since 2008. See pages 3 and 4A.  However, no evidence was presented that such records were maintained or used as part of compliance with obligations.  Staff alleges no penalty based solely upon the lack of existence of such policies. 
63. Staff has sustained its burden of proving the violations alleged in Counts 1 through  43 of CPAN No. 94763 by a preponderance of the evidence as required by § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  

64. Having found the above violations of the cited regulations, it is necessary to determine the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed for these violations.  Section 40-7-113, C.R.S., authorizes the Commission to consider aggravating or mitigating circumstances surrounding particular violations in order to fashion a penalty assessment that promotes the underlying purpose of such assessments.  

65. Pursuant to Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-1-1302(b):

The Commission may impose a civil penalty … [i]n a contested proceeding … after considering evidence concerning some or all of the following factors:

(I)
The nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

(II).
The degree of the respondent’s culpability;

(III)
The respondent’s history of prior offenses;

(IV)
The respondent’s ability to pay;

(V)
Any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

(VI)
The effect on the respondent’s ability to continue in business;

(VII)
The size of the business of the respondent; and

(VIII)
Such other factors as equity and fairness may require.

66. As to factors in mitigation, it is notable that Respondent is a sole proprietorship stated to be having general financial difficulties. However, there are substantial aggravating factors.  For all practical purposes, there is an absolute and total failure of Respondent to maintain records to demonstrate compliance with Commission rules.  It is clear that Staff did not even propose assessment of a civil penalty for every violation proven.

67. Mr. Holle is well educated and acknowledges having operated for several years.  Despite obligations undertaken thereby, he has been found in violation of Commission rules and/or Colorado law on at least two prior occasions.  Based upon the evidence presented herein, there appears to be no compliance effort.  

68. By Decision No. R04-0135, Docket No. 03G-501EC, issued February 4, 20904, Respondent was assessed a $1,400 civil penalty for nine violations, some of which are identical to violations proven herein.  By Decision No. R03-1456, Docket No. 03G-393EC, issued December 29, 2003, Respondent was assessed an $8,500 civil penalty for four violations.  

69. While § 40-7-113(g), C.R.S., does not provide a definition of “intentionally,” an act that violates a regulation is generally knowingly or intentionally committed if it is done voluntarily and intentionally and not because of a mistake or accident or other innocent reasons.  United States v. Thompson-Hayward Chemical Company, 446 F.2d 583, (5th Cir.1971).  Continuing operations with such gross disregard of known responsibility demonstrates an intention to violate Commission rules on each of the proven violations.  Respondent clearly understood the obligations to the Commission and the public, and knowingly failed to comply.  

70. The Commission performs an important health and safety function of assuring compliance with safety rules.  Respondent’s total disregard for the safety of the traveling public warrants that significant civil penalties be imposed.
71. The maximum civil penalty for the proven violations is $26,345 (including surcharge).
72. Based on the evidence presented, findings of fact, and discussion above, the ALJ finds that the maximum civil penalty should be assessed in connection with Counts 1 through 43 of CPAN No. 94763.    
73. The ALJ finds that the civil penalty imposed achieves the following purposes underlying civil penalty assessments to protect the safety of those affected to the maximum extent possible within the Commission’s jurisdiction:  (a) deterring future violations, whether by other similarly situated carriers or by Respondent; (b) motivating Respondent to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punishing Respondent for past illegal behavior.  

74. The total civil penalty to be assessed for such violations is $26,345, including a 10 percent surcharge.  

75. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.  

III. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:

1. RespondentLarry Holle, doing business as, Bus Express Larry Holle, doing business as, Bus Express is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $23,950.00 in connection with violations in Counts 1 through 43 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 94763, with an additional 10 percent surcharge, for a total amount of $26,345.  Respondent shall pay the total assessed penalty of $26,345 within ten days of the effective date of this Order.

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by §40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the Recommended Decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of §40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in §40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

4. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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ATTEST: A TRUE COPY
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


G. HARRIS ADAMS
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge










� 	Decision No. C08-1182, issued November 14, 2008, citing § 13-25-127, C.R.S.. and W. Distributing Co. v. Diodosio, 841 P.2d 1053 (Colo. 1992).
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